IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

STATE OF IOWA

Plaintiff-Appellee,

v.

LAWRENCE CANADY III,

Defendant-Appellant

Supreme Court No. 22-0397

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
IN AND FOR WOODBUY COUNTY
HONORABLE PATRICK H. TOTT, JUDGE

APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND ARGUMENT
AND REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

MARTHA J. LUCEY
State Appellate Defender

BRADLEY M. BENDER
Assistant Appellate Defender
bbender@spd.state.ia.us
appellatedefender@spd.state.ia.us

STATE APPELLATE DEFENDER'S OFFICE
Lucas State Office Building, Fourth Floor
321 East 12th Street
Des Moines, Iowa 50319
TEL: (515) 281-8841 FAX: (515) 281-7281

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. The district court has discretion in admitting evidence into the record during a jury trial. Canady contends that the district court erred in admitting the cellphone rap video, jail call from Austin Rockwood, Dwight Evans's Snapchat message, and Jessica Goodman's opinion testimony on slang language. Did the district court erred by admitting the challenged evidence into the record?

Authorities

Preservation of Error.

State v. Pardock, 215 N.W.2d 344 (Iowa 1974)

State v. Daly, 623 N.W.2d 799 (Iowa 2001)

DeVoss v. State, 648 N.W.2d 56 (Iowa 2002)

Standard of Review.

State v. Paredes, 775 N.W.2d 554 (Iowa 2009)

State v. Helmers, 753 N.W.2d 565 (Iowa 2008)

A. The District Court Erred in Admitting the Cellphone Rap Video.

Iowa R. Evid. 5.402

State v. Taylor, 689 N.W.2d 116 (Iowa 2004)

Iowa R. Evid. 5.401

Iowa R. Evid. 5.403

State v. Huston, 825 N.W.2d 531 (Iowa 2013)

State v. Martin, 704 N.W.2d 665 (Iowa 2005)

State v. Rodriguez, 636 N.W.2d 234 (Iowa 2001)

Erin Lutes et al., *When Music Takes the Stand: A Content Analysis of How Courts Use and Misuse Rap Lyrics in Criminal Cases*, 46 AM. J. CRIM. L. 77 (2019)

Nicholas Stoia, Kyle Adams & Kevin Drakulich, *Rap Lyrics as Evidence: What Can Music Theory Tell Us?*, 8 RACE & JUST. 300 (2018)

Sean-Patrick Wilson, *Rap Sheets: The Constitutional and Societal Complications Arising from the Use of Rap Lyrics As Evidence at Criminal Trials*, 12 UCLA ENT. L. REV. 345 (2005)

Stuart P. Fischhoff, *Gangsta' Rap and a Murder in Bakersfield*, 29 J. APPLIED SOC. PSYCHOL. 795 (1999)

Montague v. State, 243 A.3d 546, 559 (Md. 2020)

Graber v. City of Ankeny, 616 N.W.2d 633 (Iowa 2000)

State v. Leslie, No. 12-1335, 2014 WL 70259 (Iowa Ct. App. 2014)

Andrea Dennis, *Poetic (In)Justice? Rap Music Lyrics as Art, Life, & Criminal Evid.*, 31 Colum. J.L. & Arts 1, 29-30 (2007)

United States v. Price, 418 F.3d 771 (5th Cir. 2005)

B. District Court Erred in Admitting the Jail Call from Austin Rockwood.

State v. Weatherly, 519 N.W.2d 824 (Iowa Ct. App. 1994)

Iowa R. Evid. 5.901(b)(4)

State v. Collier, 372 N.W.2d 303 (Iowa Ct. App. 1985)

Iowa R. Evid. 5.801(c)

Iowa R. Evid. 5.801(d)(2)(A)

State v. Moody, No. 13-0576, 2014 WL 5861763 (Iowa Ct. App. 2014)

State v. Hildreth, 582 N.W.2d 167(Iowa 1998)

State v. Newell, 710 N.W.2d 6 (Iowa 2006)

State v. Johnson, 272 N.W.2d 480 (Iowa 1978)

State v. Sowder, 394 N.W.2d 368 (Iowa 1986)

C. The District Court Erred in Admitting the Snapchat Message.

State v. Ross, 573 N.W.2d 906 (Iowa 1998)

State v. Kidd, 239 N.W.2d 860 (Iowa 1976)

D. The District Court Erred in Admitting Jessica Goodman's Opinion Testimony on Slang Language.

Whitley v. C.R. Pharmacy Serv., Inc., 816 N.W.2d 378 (Iowa 2012)

State v. McCarty, 179 N.W.2d 548 (Iowa 1970)

State v. Derry, 250 N.J. 611, 275 A.3d 444 (2022)

United States v. Smith, 640 F.3d 358 (D.C. Cir. 2011)

United States v. Griffith, 118 F.3d 318 (5th Cir. 1997)

United States v. Delpit, 94 F.3d 1134 (8th Cir. 1996)

II. The jury returned a verdict of guilty on the lesser included offense of Voluntary Manslaughter, Willful Injury Causing Bodily Injury and Serious Assault. Canady contends the evidence presented by the State was insufficient to support the jury's verdict on the Voluntary Manslaughter charge since the State's case is based on suspicion, theory, and conjecture. Was there sufficient evidence to support the jury's verdict of guilty on this charge?

Authorities

Preservation of Error.

State v. Truesdell, 679 N.W.2d 611(Iowa 2004)

State v. Crawford, 972 N.W.2d 189 (Iowa 2022)

Standard of Review.

State v. Howse, 875 N.W.2d 684 (Iowa 2016)

State v. Sanford, 814 N.W.2d 611 (Iowa 2012)

The Evidence was Insufficient to Support the Jury's Verdict on the Voluntary Manslaughter Charge.

Iowa Code § 703.1

State v. Tangie, 616 N.W.2d 564 (Iowa 2000)

State v. Hearn, 797 N.W.2d 577 (Iowa 2011)

State v. Ernst, 954 N.W.2d 50 (Iowa 2021)

State v. Tipton, 897 N.W.2d 653 (Iowa 2017)

State v. Waigand, 953 N.W.2d 689 (Iowa 2021)

State v. Roache, 920 N.W.2d 93 (Iowa 2018)

State v. Rush-Brantley, No. 12-1915, 2015 WL 161791 (Iowa Ct. App. Jan. 14, 2015)

State v. Jones, 967 N.W.2d 336 (Iowa 2021)

Iowa R. App. P. 6.904(3)(p).

State v. Truesdell, 679 N.W.2d 611 (Iowa 2004)

In Re Winship, 397 U.S. 358 (1970)

Coffin v. United States, 156 U.S. 432 (1895)

State v. Crawford, 972 N.W.2d 189 (Iowa 2022)

State v. Schlitter, 881 N.W.2d 380 (Iowa 2016)

State v. Serrato, No. 08-0799, 2009 WL 2185819 (Iowa Ct. App. July 22, 2009)

III. When a sentence falls within the statutory limits, the sentence will not be disturbed on appeal unless the defendant shows an abuse of discretion or a defect in the sentencing procedure such as the trial court's consideration of impermissible factors. Canady claims the district court abused its discretion by imposing consecutive sentences. Did the district court err?

Authorities

Preservation of Error.

State v. Thomas, 520 N.W.2d 311 (Iowa 1994)

State v. Lathrop, 781 N.W.2d 288 (Iowa 2010)

Standard of Review.

Iowa R. App. P. 6.907

State v. Formaro, 638 N.W.2d 720 (Iowa 2002)

State v. Lovell, 857 N.W.2d 241 (Iowa 2014)

State v. Thomas, 547 N.W.2d 223 (Iowa 1996)

State v. Hill, 878 N.W.2d 269 (Iowa 2016)

State v. Johnson, 950 N.W.2d 21 (Iowa 2020)

A. The District Court Erred By Failing to Merge the Voluntary Manslaughter and Willful Injury Convictions.

Iowa Code § 701.9.

State v. Gallup, 500 N.W.2d 437 (Iowa 1993)

Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.6(2).

State v. Walker, 610 N.W.2d 524 (Iowa 2000)

State v. Dittmer, 653 N.W.2d 774 (Iowa Ct. App. 2002)

State v. Velez, 829 N.W.2d 572 (Iowa 2013)

B. The District Court Abused Its Discretion by Considering the Minutes of Testimony During Canady's Sentencing.

State v. Gonzalez, 582 N.W.2d 515 (Iowa 1998)

State v. Black, 324 N.W.2d 313 (Iowa 1982)

State v. Lovell, 857 N.W.2d 241 (Iowa 2014)

State v. Messer, 306 N.W.2d 731 (Iowa 1981)

State v. Grandberry, 619 N.W.2d 399 (Iowa 2000)

C. The District Court Abused its Discretion by Ordering Consecutive Sentences.

Iowa Code § 901.5(9)(c)

State v. Delaney, 526 N.W.2d 170 (Iowa Ct. App. 1994)

State v. Jacobs, 607 N.W.2d 679 (Iowa 2000)

State v. Hill, 878 N.W.2d 269 (Iowa 2016)

State v. Thompson, 856 N.W.2d 915 (Iowa 2014)

State v. Hennings, 791 N.W.2d 828 (Iowa 2010)

State v. Thacker, 862 N.W.2d 402 (Iowa 2015)

State v. Hopkins, 860 N.W.2d 550 (Iowa 2015)

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case should be retained by the Supreme Court for the following reasons: (1) the case presents substantial issues of first impression; (2) the case presents fundamental and urgent issues of broad public importance requiring prompt or ultimate determination by the Iowa Supreme Court; and (3) the case presents substantial questions of enunciating or changing legal principles. See Iowa R. App. R. 6.1101(2). Specifically, more guidance is needed by the Supreme Court on the issues of whether expert witness testimony is needed to interpret slang language and whether voluntary manslaughter merges with willful injury when there is only a single act of assault.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of Case. Defendant-Appellant Lawrence Canady III appeals from the judgment, conviction, and sentence for Voluntary Manslaughter, Willful Injury Causing Bodily Injury, and Serious Assault in violation of Iowa Code sections 707.4, 708.2(2) and 708.2(4) (2021) following a jury trial and verdict of guilty in the Woodbury County District Court. On appeal, Canady argues that the district court abused its discretion

admitting the cellphone rap video, the jail call from Austin Rockwood, Dwight Evans's Snapchat message, and Jessica Goodman's opinion testimony on slang language; the evidence was insufficient to support the jury's verdict on the Voluntary Manslaughter charge; and the district court committed sentencing errors when sentencing Canady in this matter.

Course of Proceedings. Defendant-Appellant Lawrence Canady III was charged by Trial Information on July 1, 2021 with the following offenses: (1) Murder in the First Degree, a class A felony, in violation of Iowa Code sections 707.2(1)(a), 703.1, and 703.2 (2021); (2) Willful Injury Causing Serious Injury, a class C felony, in violation of Iowa Code sections 703.1, 703.2 and 708.4(1) (2021); and (3) Serious Assault, a serious misdemeanor, in violation of Iowa Code section 708.2(2) (2021). (Trial Information) (App. pp. 6-8). Canady pled not guilty to the charges and demanded his right to a speedy trial. (Written Arraignment; Arraignment Order) (App. pp. 9-12). On July 20, 2021, Canady filed a limited waiver of speedy trial regarding the Willful Injury and Serious Assault charges. (Limited Waiver) (App. p. 13).

On July 23, 2021, Canady filed a motion to dismiss the Murder in the First Degree and Willful Injury charges. (Motion to Dismiss) (App. pp. 14-36). Canady alleged that charges filed herein originates from the exact same incident for which he was arrested on May 1, 2021 and the Trial Information was filed more than forty-five days after he was arrested which is a violation of Iowa Rule of Criminal Procedure 2.33(2)(a). (Motion to Dismiss) (App. pp. 14-36). Canady requested that the court enter an order dismissing the Murder in the First Degree and Willful Injury charges. (Motion to Dismiss) (App. pp. 14-36). The State resisted the motion. (State's Resistance re: Motion to Dismiss) (App. pp. 37-45). A hearing was held on the motion on August 2, 2021. (8/2/21 Hrg. Tr. p. 1; Order re: Motion to Dismiss) (App. pp. 66-73). Following arguments from the parties, the district court took the motion under consideration and stated it would issue an order at a later date. (8/2/21 Tr. p. 2, Line 1 – p. 11, Line 25; Order re: Motion to Dismiss) (App. pp. 66-73).

On August 9, 2021, Canady filed a waiver of his right to a speedy trial pursuant to Iowa Rule of Criminal Procedure 2.33.

(Waiver of Speedy) (App. pp. 46-47). On August 25, 2021, Canady filed a motion to suppress that requested that the district court exclude statements made by Canady to the police following him being detained in a traffic stop shortly after the alleged shooting which violated his constitutional rights. (Motion to Suppress) (App. pp. 48-49). Specifically, Canady alleged that he was in custody, he was not advised of his *Miranda* rights, he invoked his right to counsel and the statements were the product of custodial interrogation. (Motion to Suppress) (App. pp. 48-49). The State resisted the motion. (Resistance re: Motion to Suppress) (App. pp. 50-64).

On October 15, 2021, Canady filed a Notice of Defenses which stated that he was relying on the defense of justification – self-defense and defense of others – at trial. (Notice of Defenses) (App. p. 65).

On October 20, 2021, the district court issued a ruling on Canady's Motion to Dismiss. (Order re: Motion to Dismiss) (App. pp. 66-73). The district court denied the motion and found that State was not avoiding speedy trial issues when it dismissed the prior complaints of Using a Juvenile to Commit an Indictable

Offense and Assault While Participating in a Felony in Woodbury County Criminal No.FECCR114222 on May 11, 2021 in the furtherance of justice. (Order re: Motion to Dismiss) (App. pp. 66-73).

A hearing on Canady's Motion to Suppress was held on October 22, 2021. (10/22/21 Tr. p. 2, Lines 1-25). Following presentation of evidence, Canady requested that the record remain open to allow Canady to submit additional body cam video which the district court granted. (10/22/21 Tr. p. 52, Line 12 – p. 57, Line 22). On November 11, 2022, Canady filed a Motion to Supplement the Record which requested the record on the motion to suppress to include not only the additional body cam video but also relevant transcript of Jessica Goodman's deposition. (Motion to Supplement Record) (App. pp. 74-78). The State filed an addendum resistance to the Motion to Suppress. (Addendum Resistance) (App. pp. 79-81).

On November 18, 2021, Canady filed a Motion in Limine which requested the following evidence be excluded from the jury trial: (1) any testimony from any State's witness regarding hearsay statements from other witnesses including hearsay

statements from Caleb Tift; (2) any video, recording, or tangible evidence that include statements from the witnesses unless the witness giving the statements are present and subject to examination by Canady, which include a cell phone rap video of Canady, the jail call from Austin Rockwood, and photos of Dwight Evans, Jessica Goodman and social media posts; (3) any prior bad acts of Canady; (4) any evidence regarding Canady's character including evidence of a prior traffic stop conducted a days prior to the incident, rap video of Canady, any evidence of gang affiliation for Canady, and law enforcement knew Canady prior to May 1, 2021; (5) any evidence regarding Canady's prior convictions including he was on probation at the time of the incident and had a prior felony conviction; (6) any testimony regarding the opinion by any State's witness regarding Canady's guilt on the charges; (7) any argument that law enforcement witnesses are more credible than lay witnesses or Canady; and (8) any evidence regarding statements that Canady made to law enforcement following his *Miranda* advisement. (Motion in Limine) (App. pp. 82-97).

On the same day, the State filed a Notice for Admission of Caleb Tift's Statements which requested that the court allow the admission of hearsay statements from Caleb Tift at the jury trial. (Notice of Admission) (App. pp. 98-101). Canady resisted the motion. (Resistance re: Notice of Admission) (App. pp. 130-133). On November 20, 2021, the State also filed a Motion in Limine which sought to exclude the following evidence from the jury trial: (1) the charges that were originally filed by the police or in the first trial information; (2) Jessica Goodman's prior convictions and incarceration; (3) Amanda Anderson's prior convictions; (4) Martez Harrison's allegedly violent character; (5) Martez Harrison's consumption of marijuana April 30, 2021 and May 1, 2021; (6) any penalties that Canady will face if he is convicted of the charges; (7) any argument to attempt to place the jury in the position of Canady; (8) any argument in the voir dire regarding the facts of the car or Canady's opinion on what the law will be in the case; (9) any argument by Canady regarding witnesses that were not called by the State or evidence not presented by the State; (10) any expert witness unless, prior to trial, produced to the State reports and

additional evidence that is basis to their opinion; and (11) any reference by Canady to any of his out of court statements. (State's Motion in Limine) (App. pp. 102-112).

On November 22, 2021, the State filed a Motion for in Camera Inspection which requested the district court to review the sworn statement of Dwight Evans to determine if it contains *Brady* material before such statement is disclosed to Canady. (Motion for in Camera Inspection) (App. p. 113). Canady resisted the motion. (Resistance re: Motion for In Camera Inspection) (App. pp. 134-137). On the same day, the State filed a Motion to Admit Co-Conspirator's statements which stated that State intended to admit at trial the following evidence from co-conspirators Austin Rockwood, Dwight Evans and Jordan Hills: (1) two videos from Dwight Evan's cell phone; (2) a jail call from Austin Rockwood on April 30, 2021; (3) statements by Jordan Hills and Canady made during the incident in this case; (4) a "death rap" in the notes section of Dwight Evans's cell phone; and (5) a social media post from Alissa Clark, a relative of Canady, allegedly offering the weapon involved in the incident for sale twelve hours after the incident. (Motion to Admit) (App.

pp. 114-120). Canady resisted the motion. (Resistance re: Motion to Admit) (App. pp. 130-133).

A hearing on several pretrial motions were held on November 23, 2021. (11/23/21Tr. p. 1). The district court allowed the parties to supplement the record for the previously filed Motion to Suppress. (11/23/21 Tr. p. 2, Line 1 – p. 11, Line 11). Following additional evidence from the parties, the court took the motion under advisement and the motion was resubmitted to the court. (11/23/21 Tr. p. 2, Line 1 – p. 11, Line 11). The district court then heard arguments on the parties' motions in limine, motion for in camera inspection, and motion to admit co-conspirator's statements, and the court took each motion under advisement and will issue a ruling on each motion. (11/23/21 Tr. p. 11, Line 11 – p. 87, Line 25).

On November 29, 2021, the district court issued a ruling on the State's Motion for in Camera Inspect which ordered that the sworn statement of Dwight Evans be provided to Canady. (11/29/2021 Ruling) (App. pp. 134-137). On December 1, 2021, Canady filed an additional Motion in Limine which sought to exclude the following evidence at the jury trial: (1) social

media posts by Alyssa Clark; (2) social media posts from Dwight Evans regarding having a gun nine hours before the incident; and (3) social media post from Dwight Evans regarding trying to sell a gun eight hours before the incident. (Second Motion in Limine) (App. pp. 138-140). The State resisted the motion. (Resistance re: Second Motion in Limine) (App. pp. 159-160).

On December 2, 2021, the district court issued a ruling on Canady's Motion to Suppress which granted Canady's motion and ordered that any of Canady's statements that were made after 1:09 a.m. until he received his *Miranda* warnings at the police station should be and hereby suppressed. (12/2/2021 Ruling) (App. pp. 161-170). The court concluded that any statements by Canady at the police station were volunteer statements and not result of any interrogation of Canady. (12/2/2021 Ruling) (App. pp. 161-170).

On the same day, the district court entered an order for the motions in limine and state's motion regarding co-conspirator's statements. (12/2/2021 Order) (App. pp. 141-158). On the State's motion in limine, the court granted the motion except the court reserved ruling on evidence of Martez

Harrison's violent character. (12/2/2021 Order) (App. pp. 141-158). On Canady's Motion in Limine, the court made the following ruling: (1) the court will exclude all the hearsay statements from Caleb Tift except for the identification of the white car that left the scene on the 911 call; (2) the cell phone rap video is admissible and the probative value is not outweighed by prejudice; (3) the jail call from Austin Rockwood is admissible if the statement can establish that Canady is the other voice on the telephone call; (4) the photo of Jessica Goodman at the hospital is admissible but the photographs of Dwight Evans are not admissible; (5) the court reserved ruling on prior bad acts of Canady until an offer of proof can be made; (6) evidence of a traffic stop on April 28, 2021 is admissible; (7) evidence of gang affiliation is not allowed except what is contained on the video; (8) evidence of Canady's prior involvement with law enforcement and prior convictions shall be excluded; (9) any testimony on Canady's guilty shall be granted; and (10) any evidence regarding vouching for the credibility of witnesses shall be granted. (12/2/21 Order) (App. pp. 141-158).

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