IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA  
Supreme Court No. 22-0397

---

STATE OF IOWA,  
Plaintiff-Appellee,

vs.

LAWRENCE CANADY III,  
Defendant-Appellant.

---

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT  
FOR WOODBURY COUNTY  
THE HON. PATRICK H. TOTT, JUDGE

---

**APPELLEE'S BRIEF**

---

BRENNA BIRD  
Attorney General of Iowa

**LOUIS S. SLOVEN**  
Assistant Attorney General  
Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor  
Des Moines, Iowa 50319  
(515) 281-5976  
[Louie.Sloven@ag.iowa.gov](mailto:Louie.Sloven@ag.iowa.gov)

JAMES LOOMIS  
Woodbury County Attorney

JILL ESTEVES & JACKLYN FOX  
Assistant Woodbury County Attorneys

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

FINAL

##

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

Ruling (12/2/21) at 8; App. 148. The State laid that foundation during trial: multiple witnesses testified that Harrison’s nickname was “Tez” or “Tezzo.” *See* TrialTr.V2 156:10–16; TrialTr.V3 4:5–9; TrialTr.V5 11:4–16. The video showed Canady singing along to lyrics describing violence against a number of people, including “Tezzo.” Evans was in the background, fanning out money. There were parts of the lyrics that Canady did not know or chose not to rap. But he knew and rapped a line that specifically mentioned “Tezzo.” He pantomimed shooting a gun, and he drew a finger across his neck. *See* State’s Ex. 90.

Canady argues that rap lyrics are performative art and are not autobiographical. He cites various cases and secondary authority that considers the relevance of rap lyrics that were written by a defendant, then offered as admissions of fact about what happened. *See* Def’s Br. at 42–46. But Canady and Evans *selected* this song for their lip-sync—they chose a song that contained descriptions of violence against a person with the same name or alias as Harrison. Generally, rap lyrics are inadmissible when “offered to show a propensity for violence,” but they can be relevant and admissible when they “incorporate details of a charged offense.” *See State v. Leslie*, No. 12–1335, 2014 WL 70259, at \*6 (Iowa Ct. App. Jan. 9, 2014) (citing *Holmes v. State*, 306 P.3d 415, 419 (Nev. 2013)); *accord Montague v. State*, 243 A.3d 546, 566 (Mont. 2020) (summarizing view that “lyrics should be analyzed on a case-by-case basis using the evidentiary rules that courts routinely use in determining the threshold admissibility of evidence,” and holding “[t]he closer the nexus between a defendant’s rap lyrics and the details of an alleged crime, the lower the danger of admitting the lyrics as unfairly prejudicial propensity evidence”).

Here, Canady and Evans selected a song that described acts of violence against a person named “Tezzo”—which was the name that

everyone used to refer to Harrison. They could have chosen any song. They chose that particular verse of that particular song. Canady did not even appear to know all of the words. But he rapped that specific lyric about “Tezzo” getting “hit”—that was the point. *See* State’s Ex. 90.

Canady is correct that these are not lyrics that Canady or Evans wrote—they are actually lyrics to an existing song called “63<sup>rd</sup> to 65<sup>th</sup>” by the group “Nutso Slide.” *See* TrialTr.V6 8:10–14:12; Def’s Ex. G. But Canady never mentioned that to the trial court (or the State) in resisting or objecting to the admission of this evidence. *See* Def’s Mot. in Limine (11/18/21) at 2–3; App. 83–84; PretrialTr. (11/23/21) at 52:24–60:6; TrialTr.V5 206:10–207:17. The trial court ruled on the admissibility of the video without the benefit of any argument or knowledge that it was a lip-sync of a song that already mentioned “Tezzo.” *See* Ruling (12/2/21) at 8; App. 148; TrialTr.V5 206:10–207:17. Consequently, error is not preserved for any argument that the court should have ruled differently because Canady and Evans did not write the lyrics. *See State v. Decker*, 744 N.W.2d 346, 353 (Iowa 2008) (explaining general rule: “unless the reasons for an objection are obvious a party attempting to exclude evidence has the duty to indicate the specific grounds to the court so as to alert the judge to the question raised”).

At any rate, even knowing that Canady and Evans did not write these lyrics, it would still be indisputable that they *selected* a song and a specific verse for their lip-sync post that described violence against a person named “Tezzo,” and they recorded this lip-sync on a date that was less than a week before they killed Harrison (aka “Tezzo”). *See* TrialTr.V6 8:7–16. This was specifically relevant to establish malice, premeditation, and specific intent. All of those needed to be proven to sustain the charge of first-degree murder, and all had to be proven by circumstantial evidence—including their feelings towards Harrison in the days before they killed him. *See, e.g., State v. Ernst*, 954 N.W.2d 50, 55 (Iowa 2021) (quoting *State v. Walker*, 574 N.W.2d 280, 289 (Iowa 1998)) (explaining “[s]pecific intent is seldom capable of direct proof” and is typically “shown by circumstantial evidence and the reasonable inferences drawn from that evidence”); *State v. Knox*, 464 N.W.2d 445, 449 (Iowa 1990) (citing *State v. Cole*, 17 N.W. 183, 184 (Iowa 1883)) (“[E]vidence of conduct exhibiting a bad state of feeling on the part of the defendant toward a murder victim is admissible.”). Canady could argue that this was just a coincidence. But the jury could disagree and find that this lip-sync was about Harrison (and therefore relevant), so this evidence was properly admitted. *See* Iowa R. Evid. 5.104(b).



Alternatively, if there was any error in admitting this video, it was harmless. The jury did not convict Canady of aiding and abetting a murder—instead, the jury convicted Canady of the lesser offense of aiding and abetting voluntary manslaughter. *See* Verdict (12/16/21); App. 175–76; Jury Instr. 35; App. 172. That means the jury did not find malice, premeditation, or specific intent to kill Harrison—instead, it concluded that “[t]he shooting was done solely by reason of sudden, violent and irresistible passion resulting from serious provocation.” *See* Jury Instr. 35–36; App. 172–73. This establishes harmless error in two ways. First, it shows that excluding this evidence could not have changed the result—jurors would have reached the same conclusion that the choice to kill Harrison was made in the heat of the moment and was not premeditated. Second, it forecloses Canady’s argument that this rap video was unfairly prejudicial, because it shows that the video “did not provoke the jury to convict him ‘out of hostility, passion, bias or any other improper basis.’” *See State v. Chaney*, No. 17–1095, 2018 WL 3650307, at \*2 (Iowa Ct. App. Aug. 1, 2018) (quoting *State v. Payton*, 481 N.W.2d 325, 327 (Iowa 1992)); accord *State v. Taylor*, 689 N.W.2d 116, 130

(Iowa 2004); *State v. Rodriguez*, 636 N.W.2d 234, 243 n.4 (Iowa 2001). Thus, any error was harmless.

Error was also harmless because these verdicts were supported by overwhelming evidence of Canady's guilt, for reasons that will be discussed in other segments of the State's argument.

**B. The jail call between Rockwood and Canady was properly authenticated by testimony from people who could identify both voices on the recording.**

Canady challenges the admission of a recording of a jail call that Austin Rockwood placed to Canady on April 30, 2021—the day before the killing. *See* Def's Br. at 46–50; TrialTr.V3 162:2–166:21; State's Ex. 34. After the hearing on the motions in limine, the trial court issued a pretrial ruling on the admissibility of this recording:

The Court finds that if the State is able to create a proper authentication for the recording of the phone call under Rule 5.901(a)(5) or (6) that it would be admissible as admissions by a party opponent under Rule 5.801(d)(2)(A). The jail phone log will establish that the call was with Austin Rockwood and references were made to "L" by Rockwood during the call. As long as State's witnesses are able to lay the foundation that "L" would be a reference to the Defendant and/or can identify the Defendant's voice on the call, the call would be admissible as admissions by a party opponent to show the Defendant's reaction to the allegation that "Tezzo" had assaulted Rockwood's girlfriend.

Ruling (12/2/21) at 8–9; App. 148–49. At trial, Canady lodged the same objections that he raised before trial. The court overruled them. *See* TrialTr.V3 166:11–21. That ruling preserved error for this challenge.

Canady argues that the State never put forth evidence to establish that the voice on the recording was his voice. *See* Def’s Br. at 47–48. But Goodman had known Canady for years, and she had spoken with him on the phone. She said that she could identify his voice. *See* TrialTr.V5 16:4–20. Goodman knew Rockwood, too. She could also identify Rockwood’s voice. *See* TrialTr.V5 21:16–22:15. Goodman had listened to State’s Exhibit 34, and she testified that the two voices on that recorded call were Canady and Rockwood. *See* TrialTr.V5 22:16–23:23; State’s Ex. 34. Detective Paul Yaneff was also familiar with both Rockwood’s voice and Canady’s voice, and he testified that he heard both of them on the recording of that call. *See* TrialTr.V5 164:3–17. That is sufficient for authentication of a voice. *See State v. Reynolds*, No. 15–0226, 2016 WL 6652311, at \*5 (Iowa Ct. App. Nov. 9, 2016). Canady’s argument in his brief does not mention that testimony. *See* Def’s Br. at 47–48. It is true that the recording was admitted before Goodman or Detective Yaneff testified. But that does not matter. *See*

Iowa R. Evid. 5.104(b) (“When the relevance of evidence depends on whether a fact exists, . . . [t]he court may admit the proposed evidence on the condition that the proof be introduced later.”). Alternatively, this subsequent authentication testimony establishes harmless error.

Canady also argues that Rockwood’s statements on the call were hearsay. *See* Def’s Br. at 48–49. But Rockwood’s statements were not offered for a hearsay purpose, to prove the truth of matters asserted. The trial court noted the point was “to show the Defendant’s reaction to the allegation that ‘Tezzo’ had assaulted Rockwood’s girlfriend.” *See* Ruling (12/2/21) at 8–9; App. 148–49. Note that the State only used Rockwood’s statements for their response on Canady, the listener:

[T]hese events began with evidence of a jail phone call. The jail calls over at the jail were recorded on April 30th around noon. An inmate, his name is Austin Rockwood, made a phone call to Lawrence Canady. Rockwood told Canady, Martez Harrison assaulted my girlfriend, Mariah. He took a beer bottle to her face, put her in the hospital. You’re going to hear Lawrence Canady’s voice on that jail phone call, and you’re going to hear his anger, how mad he was. You’re going to hear Lawrence Canady’s voice say, I’m going to knock him on his head. He’s going to cuss and say, I’m going to knock him on his head dead. This is evidence of Lawrence Canady’s motive.

TrialTr.V2 118:25–119:13. It did not matter whether Harrison really did hit Mariah with a beer bottle. What mattered was that Canady heard Rockwood say that, and he wanted to hurt or kill Harrison as payback.

*See* TrialTr.V3 6:8–12:10 (Anderson stating that Canady said he would “beat somebody up” because the person “bashed his sister over the head with a beer bottle”); TrialTr.V5 17:21–20:22 (Goodman testifying that Canady was yelling about Harrison striking a girl with a beer bottle).

Note that Canady’s own statements establish harmless error. Both Anderson and Goodman testified that Canady made statements indicating that he was upset with Harrison, because he believed that Harrison had struck a girl or woman with a beer bottle. *See* TrialTr.V3 6:8–12:10; TrialTr.V5 17:21–20:22. None of Canady’s statements are inadmissible hearsay. *See* Iowa R. Evid. 5.801(d)(2)(A). So even if Rockwood’s statements to Canady about what Harrison allegedly did were inadmissible hearsay, that evidence would be cumulative with properly admitted evidence of Canady’s non-hearsay statements. *See, e.g., State v. Newell*, 710 N.W.2d 6, 19 (Iowa 2006).

In arguing that error was prejudicial, Canady’s brief identifies the permissible non-hearsay purpose for Rockwood’s statements on that recorded call. Canady argues that he was prejudiced because the recording enabled the State to argue that “Canady was upset about what he learned from [Rockwood] and that he used that information from the call to seek out [Harrison] and get revenge.” *See* Def’s Br. at

49–50 (citing TrialTr.V7 7:7–19). Canady is correct: the call recording was relevant and admissible to establish his motive and intent to hurt and kill Harrison. It was not offered to prove matters asserted in any of Rockwood’s statements. Thus, the court did not err in admitting it.

**C. The Snapchat post was admissible to establish that Evans had a gun, before the killing (and that his contacts on Snapchat would have known that).**

Hours after the killing, Goodman looked for social media posts. She found a Snapchat from Evans. He posted it about five hours before Harrison was killed. *See* TrialTr.V5 92:18–93:6; State’s Ex. 52; App. 10. This post caught Goodman’s attention because it showed Evans holding a gun. *See* TrialTr.V5 87:2–11. Canady objected to the picture as irrelevant and unduly prejudicial, and he also objected to a caption on the post as hearsay. The court overruled those objections. It ruled the picture was relevant “in light of the timing of that Snapchat photo” and the caption was non-hearsay “as statements of co-conspirators.” *See* TrialTr.V5 80:20–86:19; TrialTr.V5 90:15–25. On appeal, Canady does not dispute the relevance or admissibility of the photo. *See* Def’s Br. at 51–53. Instead, he only argues that the caption was hearsay.

It is unnecessary to decide whether the caption is actually a statement by a co-conspirator made in furtherance of the conspiracy.

*See Iowa R. Evid. 5.801(d)(2)(E).* It was made on Snapchat, where Goodman could find it—so it was not specifically directed to other members of the group that assaulted Harrison and Goodman. Still, it furthered the conspiracy by informing Canady that Evans had a gun.

It would have been better to admit this caption as a statement of present-sense impression and then-existing mental condition. *See Iowa R. Evid. 5.803(1) & (3).* The caption said: “We bussin but don’t think shit sweat [gun emoji].” *See State’s Ex. 52; App. 10.* Goodman testified that she read that to mean “that they got the guns and they’re not sweating shit.” *See TrialTr.V5 89:19–25.* A statement claiming to have guns is a present-sense impression about what they are carrying. Also, that half of the caption is cumulative with the photo itself, which showed the gun in Evans’s waistband. *See State’s Ex. 52; App. 10.* The statement that they are “not sweating shit” meant that “they’re going to shoot whoever” and “[t]hey’re not scared of anything.” *See TrialTr.V5 93:24–94:14.* That describes an existing mental state, so it would be admissible under Rule 5.803(3). This Court can affirm the trial court’s ruling that overruled Canady’s objection and admitted the unredacted Snapchat, on any basis that is apparent from the record. *See, e.g., State v. Dessinger, 958 N.W.2d 590, 599 (Iowa 2021) (citing*

*DeVoss v. State*, 648 N.W.2d 56, 63 (Iowa 2002)) (“We consider the applicability of exceptions in criminal cases even when not urged at trial as there is no point in reversing a conviction when the evidence will be admissible at retrial in any event.”).

Even if it was error to admit the caption, it was harmless.

Canady’s brief does not identify any finding of fact that could have been affected by the admission of that caption. Nor does he identify how it was unfairly prejudicial. He argues that the caption had “no connection to [him] or to the incident that took place that evening.” *See* Def’s Br. at 52–53. Indeed, *the picture* was the point of the post and the point of admitting the post as evidence: it showed that Evans was carrying a gun, just hours before the killing. *See* Resistance to Def’s Mot. in Limine (11/22/21) at 2; App. 122 (citing *State v. Grady*, No. 14–0586, 2015 WL 1817029, at \*14 (Iowa Ct. App. Apr. 22, 2015)). The caption added almost nothing, beyond what the picture showed.

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